NAASR BYLAWS

Initially Proposed and Considered: November 23, 1997

Adopted: November 21, 1998

Dues Rate Amended by Majority Vote: November 18, 2006

Amended by the Membership: November 7, 2009

Dues Rate Amended by Majority Vote: November 17, 2012

Amended by the Membership: November 17, 2012 Amended by the Membership: November 17, 2018

Article I – MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. The membership of the Association shall consist of those persons who are members at the time of the adoption of these Bylaws and of those persons who shall subsequently join the Association in the manner hereinafter provided.

Section 2. Membership is obtained by written application to the Executive Secretary and payment of the current year's dues. Membership is sustained by annual payment of dues, by payment of lifetime dues, or by payment of multi-year dues.

Section 3. Duties and responsibilities attaching to membership include: a) annual payment of dues as determined by the voting membership (see below, Article III);

b) commitment to provocative, energetic and frontier presentations.

Section 4. Termination

A member who has failed to pay dues annually or for life or for a multi-year term will be dropped from the Association.

Article II - OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE COUNCIL

Section 1. Selection of Officers and Members of the Executive Council

- (a) The President, Vice President, and members of the Executive Council are elected by the general membership at the Annual Meeting; the Executive Secretary/Treasurer is appointed by the Executive Council (AA XI, d) at any time.
- (b) At least two months prior to an election, the President shall appoint a Nominating Committee of at least three members, which shall consider and recommend the names of at least one candidate for each office to be elected. The Executive Council will approve the recommendations of the Nominating Committee or substitute its own candidate(s). The nominees approved by the Executive Council will be announced to the members at least seven (7) days in advance of the Annual Meeting. Additional nominations may be made from the floor. Election shall be by ballot and the person receiving the majority of the votes cast for each office shall be declared elected. If no candidate receives a majority, the preliminary vote totals shall be read aloud to the membership, and the candidates with the two highest vote totals (which may be

more than two candidates, in the event of a tie) shall stand in a run-off election. Successive runoff elections shall be held until one candidate receives a majority of the votes cast.

Section 2. Terms of Office

- (a) The terms of office of President and Vice President shall be three (3) years. The Executive Secretary/Treasurer will serve for not more than two consecutive five (5) year terms (AA XI, d; g).
- (b) The six elected members of the Executive Council shall be known as Councilors. The Councilors are elected to serve three (3) year terms in a staggered fashion, with two elected each year. They shall serve until their successors have been elected or appointed.
- (c) In the case of death or resignation or permanent inability to act of any officer or Councilor, the vacancy shall be filled by the Executive Council for the unexpired term.

Section 3. Powers and Duties

(a) The officers shall perform such duties as are normally incident to the offices and implied by their titles including the following:

President. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Association, presiding at all meetings of the members and of the Executive Council; seeing that all orders and resolutions of the membership and of the Executive Council are carried into effect; executing all contracts and other documents on behalf of the Association.

Vice President. The Vice President's chief responsibility is to appoint and chair the annual Program Committee (Article III). In the absence or temporary disability of the President, the Vice President also shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President.

Executive Secretary/Treasurer. The Executive Secretary/Treasurer shall keep full and complete minutes of all meetings of the members, Executive Council and Standing Committees as well as complete records of all action taken by these bodies. The Executive Secretary/Treasurer shall keep and file all documents belonging to the Association that are committed to the Association's custody, and shall, as required by the President, the Executive Council, or by any of the Standing Committees, submit to the membership by mail, such matters as require the approval of or action by the membership.

The Executive Secretary/Treasurer, under the direction and supervision of the Executive Council, shall be the custodian of all cash and securities of the Association and shall keep full and accurate account of the receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Association.

The Treasurer shall collect all dues and shall deposit all monies in the name and to the credit of the Association with such depositories as may be designated by the Executive Council, and shall disburse the funds of the Association as directed by the Executive Council, making a proper voucher for such disbursements and shall render to the Executive Council and to the membership periodically or upon request, an account of all transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Association.

- (b) The Executive Council includes the Association's three (3) officers (President, Vice-President and Executive Secretary/Treasurer) and six (6) members elected at large, all of whom serve as *ex officio* voting members of the Council. The Executive Council also includes the editors of partner publications (as defined in Article IX) who are *ex officio* non-voting members of the Council. The Council shall initiate and submit to the members for their approval proposed policies of the Association and it shall have and exercise the power to take such actions as in its judgment is necessary and proper to carry out the purposes of the Association. For purposes of any action taken by the Executive Council, five members of said Council including at least two officers shall constitute a quorum and the act of a majority of the members of the Council present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Council.
- (c) Advisory Committee. From time to time, the Executive Council may appoint scholars of religion or other persons to an Advisory Committee. These persons need not be Association members in order to be named to the Advisory Committee. The Association's three (3) founding corporate officers (the original President, Vice President, and Secretary/Treasurer) shall sit on the Advisory Committee. Advisory Committee members may attend all council meetings and advise the Executive Council. Members of the Advisory Committee are appointed until they resign or are removed by the Executive Council.

Article III - PROGRAM

Section 1. The Association shall conform to scholarly conventions of openness and publicity. To this end:

- (a) The Program Committee will be chaired by the Vice President, and will consist of at least three (3) members appointed by the Vice President for a one-year term. Members of the Program Committee must be members of the Association, but need not be members of the Executive Council.
- (b) All meetings, programs, and other opportunities for scholarly communication sponsored by the Association, including programs held under the auspices of other scholarly societies, shall be advertised to all Association members at least six months prior to their occurrence; and in any case well in advance of the determination of program contents.
- (c) Members shall be invited to submit abstracts for papers as well as proposals for entire sessions.
- (d) Proposals for papers and sessions shall also be solicited from other religious studies scholars and from the humanities and social sciences community at large through email lists, advertisements sponsored by other scholarly societies, and other appropriate means.
- (e) The Program Committee shall set deadlines, style, and other guidelines for the submission of proposals.
- (f) If more proposals are received than there is available space to accommodate, proposals shall be evaluated by the Program Committee or an appointed subcommittee of the Program

Committee through a blind review process (a process in which author's identity is unknown to evaluators) on the basis of merit and contribution to the Society's goals (AA II, a).

- (g) A non-member whose paper is accepted for presentation shall be asked to become a member and to contribute one year's membership dues as a condition of participation in NAASR programs.
- (h) Scholarly themes or foci for the following year's programs may be discussed and decided by the membership at the Annual Meeting. The Program Committee shall be directed by any such decisions.

Section 2. Working Groups

For the purpose of furthering longer-term discussions on topics in religious studies that may be of specialized interest, Working Groups may be created by approval of the Executive Council.

- (a) Working Groups will ordinarily have a specific objective such as the completion of an edited volume or special journal issue, or the organization of a conference.
- (b) The Executive Council shall establish application procedures for the formation of Working Groups.
- (c) An application to form a Working Group shall be approved for an initial term that may be renewed, subject to periodic report and review, and consistent with progress toward the stated objective of the Group.
- (d) A Working Group shall have the privilege of petitioning the Executive Council for funds to support its scholarly work. Ordinarily that support shall be limited to facilitating meetings of the Working Group in conjunction with other meetings of the Association.
- (e) In exchange for receiving such support, the meetings of Working Groups shall be open to attendance by all members of the Association. The existence of Working Groups shall be publicized to all members of the Association and to the field of religious studies at large.
- (f) A Working Group shall have one or more Chairs who submit the application to form a Working Group and assume responsibility for administering the Group and reporting on its activities to the Executive Council.
- (g) Any member of the Association may become a member of a Working Group with the approval of the Group's Chair(s).
- (h) A scholar who wishes to join a Working Group and who is not already a member of the Association shall be asked to become a member and to contribute one year's membership dues as a condition of participation.

Article IV - MTSR

Section 1. The official journal of the Association is *Method & Theory in the Study of Religion* (*MTSR*). Like the Association, *MTSR* is committed to the presentation of provocative, energetic, and frontier scholarship (AA II, a). To this end:

Section 2. Editor

- (a) The Executive Council shall appoint an editor for MTSR.
- (b) The term for the editor shall be five years, renewable for one additional five-year term.
- (c) If the editor, for any reason, vacates the position prior to the end of a five-year term, the Executive Council shall appoint a new editor for a new five-year term.
- (d) The editor shall be ultimately responsible for all details of publishing MTSR in a timely fashion. To this end the editor may appoint an editorial team (including a Book Review editor) to assist in the publication of MTSR during the editor's term of office.
- (e) The editor shall represent MTSR as a non-voting ex officio member of the Executive Council.
- (f) The editor shall report on the state of MTSR to the membership at the annual meeting.
- (g) The Executive Council may, at any time, dismiss the editor. The editor may be removed only by a two-thirds vote of the Executive Council. Grounds for dismissal may only be contravention of the organization's stated goals (AA II, a) or administrative/professional malfeasance.

Section 3. Editorial Advisory Board

(a) The editor shall appoint or remove members of the editorial advisory board, in consultation with the Executive Council.

Section 4. Editorial Freedom

(a) Though the editor is a member of the Executive Council and reports to the general membership at the Annual Meeting, the editor of MTSR shall enjoy complete editorial freedom as well as full freedom in the day-to-day administration of the journal's business and publication.

Article V - Key Thinkers Series

Section 1. The Association sponsors a book series, *Key Thinkers in the Study of Religion*, which is published by Equinox Publishing. To this end:

Section 2. Editor

- (a) The Executive Council shall appoint an editor for the *Key Thinkers* series.
- (b) The term for the editor shall be five years, renewable for additional five-year terms.

- (c) If the editor, for any reason, vacates the position prior to the end of a five-year term, the Executive Council shall appoint a new editor for a new five-year term.
- (d) The editor shall be ultimately responsible for all details of publishing the *Key Thinkers* series in coordination with Equinox Publishing.
- (e) The editor shall represent the *Key Thinkers* series as a non-voting *ex officio* member of the Executive Council.
- (f) The editor shall report on the state of the *Key Thinkers* series to the membership at the annual meeting.
- (g) The Executive Council may, at any time, dismiss the editor. The editor may be removed only by a two-thirds vote of the Executive Council. Grounds for dismissal may only be contravention of the organization's stated goals (AA II, a) or administrative/professional malfeasance.

Section 3. Editorial Freedom

(a) Though the editor is a member of the Executive Council and reports to the general membership at the Annual Meeting, the editor of the *Key Thinkers* series shall enjoy complete editorial freedom as well as full freedom in the day-to-day administration of the series' business and publication.

Article VI – The Bulletin

Section 1. The Association sponsors a periodical, the *Bulletin for the Study of Religion* (the *Bulletin*), which is published by Equinox Publishing. To this end:

Section 2. Editor

- (a) The Executive Council shall appoint an editor (or co-editors) for the *Bulletin*.
- (b) The term for the editor shall be five years, renewable for additional five-year terms.
- (c) If the editor, for any reason, vacates the position prior to the end of a five-year term, the Executive Council shall appoint a new editor for a new five-year term.
- (d) The editor shall be ultimately responsible for all details of publishing the *Bulletin* in coordination with Equinox Publishing. To this end the editor may appoint an editorial team to assist in the publication of the Bulletin during the editor's term of office.
- (e) The editor shall represent the *Bulletin* as a non-voting *ex officio* member of the Executive Council.
- (f) The editor shall report on the state of the *Bulletin* to the membership at the annual meeting.

(g) The Executive Council may, at any time, dismiss the editor. The editor may be removed only by a two-thirds vote of the Executive Council. Grounds for dismissal may only be contravention of the organization's stated goals (AA II, a) or administrative/professional malfeasance.

Section 3. Editorial Freedom

(a) Though the editor is a member of the Executive Council and reports to the general membership at the Annual Meeting, the editor of the *Bulletin* shall enjoy complete editorial freedom as well as full freedom in the day-to-day administration of the periodical's business and publication.

Article VII - NAASR Working Papers

Section 1. The Association sponsors a book series, *NAASR Working Papers*, which is published by Equinox Publishing. To this end:

Section 2. Editor

- (a) The Executive Council shall appoint an editor for the NAASR Working Papers series.
- (b) The term for the editor shall be five years, renewable for additional five-year terms.
- (c) If the editor, for any reason, vacates the position prior to the end of a five-year term, the Executive Council shall appoint a new editor for a new five-year term.
- (d) The editor shall be ultimately responsible for all details of publishing the *NAASR Working Papers* series in coordination with Equinox Publishing.
- (e) The editor shall represent the *NAASR Working Papers* series as a non-voting *ex officio* member of the Executive Council.
- (f) The editor shall report on the state of the NAASR Working Papers series to the membership at the annual meeting.
- (g) The Executive Council may, at any time, dismiss the editor. The editor may be removed only by a two-thirds vote of the Executive Council. Grounds for dismissal may only be contravention of the organization's stated goals (AA II, a) or administrative/professional malfeasance.

Section 3. Editorial Freedom

(a) Though the editor is a member of the Executive Council and reports to the general membership at the Annual Meeting, the editor of the *NAASR Working Papers* series shall enjoy complete editorial freedom as well as full freedom in the day-to-day administration of the series' business and publication.

Article VIII – Concepts in the Study of Religion

Section 1. The Association sponsors a book series, *Concepts in the Study of Religion*, which is published by Equinox Publishing. To this end:

Section 2. Editor

- (a) The Executive Council shall appoint an editor for the *Concepts in the Study of Religion* series.
- (b) The term for the editor shall be five years, renewable for additional five-year terms.
- (c) If the editor, for any reason, vacates the position prior to the end of a five-year term, the Executive Council shall appoint a new editor for a new five-year term.
- (d) The editor shall be ultimately responsible for all details of publishing the *Concepts in the Study of Religion* series in coordination with Equinox Publishing.
- (e) The editor shall represent the *Concepts in the Study of Religion* series as a non-voting *ex officio* member of the Executive Council.
- (f) The editor shall report on the state of the *Concepts in the Study of Religion* series to the membership at the annual meeting.
- (g) The Executive Council may, at any time, dismiss the editor. The editor may be removed only by a two-thirds vote of the Executive Council. Grounds for dismissal may only be contravention of the organization's stated goals (AA II, a) or administrative/professional malfeasance.

Section 3. Editorial Freedom

(a) Though the editor is a member of the Executive Council and reports to the general membership at the Annual Meeting, the editor of the *Concepts in the Study of Religion* series shall enjoy complete editorial freedom as well as full freedom in the day-to-day administration of the series' business and publication.

Article IX – PARTNER PUBLICATIONS

Section 1. For definitional purposes, the term "partner publications" refers to any partnership between NAASR and a press/publisher (including journals and edited series).

Section 2. Co-editors

- (a) The Executive Council retains the right to appoint a co-editor for any partner publication.
- (b) The term for the co-editor shall be five years, renewable for additional five-year terms.
- (c) If the co-editor, for any reason, vacates the position prior to the end of a five-year term, the Executive Council retains the right to appoint a new co-editor for a new five-year term.

- (d) The editor remains in the senior position ultimately responsible for all decisions related to the partner publication.
- (e) The Executive Council may, at any time, dismiss the co-editor. The co-editor may be removed only by a two-thirds vote of the Executive Council. Grounds for dismissal may only be contravention of the organization's stated goals (AA II, a) or administrative/professional malfeasance.
- (f) In the event that the editor resigns, the co-editor will continue to serve the remainder of their original five-year term as co-editor, unless the co-editor resigns or unless the Executive Council appoints the co-editor to senior editor, in which case, the new editor will serve the remainder of the original five-year appointment as editor instead of co-editor.

Section 3. Each partner publication has one spot on the Executive Council. The senior editor is the default non-voting *ex officio* member of the EC unless the senior editor agrees to delegate this role to the junior co-editor, in which case, the co-editor assumes the responsibility of reporting on the state of the partner publication to the membership at the annual meeting.

Article X – NEW PARTNER PUBLICATIONS

NAASR periodically creates new partner publications. Unless a majority of the voting members of the Executive Council agree otherwise, the following guidelines apply to each new partnership publication.

Section 1. Editor

- (a) The Executive Council shall appoint an editor for new partner publications.
- (b) The term for the editor shall be five years, renewable for additional five-year terms.
- (c) If the editor, for any reason, vacates the position prior to the end of a five-year term, the Executive Council shall appoint a new editor for a new five-year term.
- (d) The editor shall be ultimately responsible for all details of the partner publication in coordination with the publisher/press.
- (e) The editor shall represent the partner publication as a non-voting *ex officio* member of the Executive Council.
- (f) The editor shall report on the state of the partner publication to the membership at the annual meeting.
- (g) The Executive Council may, at any time, dismiss the editor. The editor may be removed only by a two-thirds vote of the Executive Council. Grounds for dismissal may only be contravention of the organization's stated goals (AA II, a) or administrative/professional malfeasance.

Section 2. Editorial Freedom

(a) Though the editor is a member of the Executive Council and reports to the general membership at the Annual Meeting, the editor of the partner publication shall enjoy complete editorial freedom as well as full freedom in the day-to-day administration of the series' business and publication.

Article XI - DUES

The annual dues shall be determined from time to time by the majority vote of the members, and shall be payable at the beginning of each calendar year. Special assessments may be made only when approved by majority vote of the membership and when levied shall be payable as dues.

Article XII - GENERAL

Section 1. For purposes of any action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of the membership, the members of the Association present shall constitute a quorum (AA XIII, c).

Section 2. All checks and notes of the Association shall be signed by such officer or officers as the Executive Council may from time to time designate.

Section 3. The Bylaws may be amended or repealed at any meeting of the membership provided that notice and the text of the proposed amendment shall have been submitted to the members at least thirty (30) days prior to said meeting. The amendment or repeal of the Bylaws shall require the affirmative vote of a majority of the members present and voting at a meeting at which a quorum is present.

Section 4. A voting member of the Executive Council must propose all amendments to the Bylaws. NAASR members will vote on the amendment provided that a majority of the voting members of the Executive Council agree to present it to NAASR members for a final vote. The vote to accept the amendment for distribution to and voting by the general membership can occur electronically.

Article XIII - Code of Conduct

Section 1. NAASR members agree to adhere to the NAASR Code of Conduct.

North American Association for the Study of Religion (NAASR) Code of Conduct

INTRODUCTION:

It is the policy of the North American Association for the Study of Religion (NAASR) that members of the Association are expected to perform, behave, and conduct themselves at all times in a manner that reflects the highest standards of ethical behavior. The ethical standards contained in this policy shape the culture and norms of NAASR's operations and both members of the Executive Council and members at large will be held fully accountable to these standards. In addition to the specific guidelines contained in the policy, members are expected to follow the ethical standards required by any other ethical or legal mandates as dictated by their particular research field and/or academic institution. The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to ensure that all members' actions – both at NAASR sponsored events and events at which NAASR members are present and representing the Association – reflect a competent, respectful, and professional approach. It is expected that members will at all times act in compliance and accordance with all federal, state, and local regulations in accordance with guidelines set forth in this policy. As detailed below, violations of the policies and procedures contained within this Code of Conduct can lead to disciplinary action or sanctions, up to and including expulsion from the Association.

NON-DISCRIMINATION POLICY

NAASR does not tolerate any form of discrimination on the basis of an individual's race, color, religion, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, national origin, age, genetic information, disability, citizenship status, or veteran status. NAASR provides equal opportunity, access, and membership without regard to race, color, religion, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, national origin, age, disability, genetic information, marital status, citizenship status, amnesty, or status as a covered veteran in accordance with applicable federal, state, and local laws. NAASR conforms to all applicable federal and state laws, rules, guidelines, and regulations for every event it holds, attends, or participates in. NAASR assures that all applicants for membership and all individuals seeking appointment to the Executive Council and/or Officer positions are given equal consideration based solely on Association-related factors, such as qualifications, experience, performance, and availability. Lastly, NAASR expressly prohibits any form of unlawful discrimination against its members and any other individuals involved in, or in attendance at, NAASR sponsored events on the basis of race, color, religion, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, national origin, age, genetic information, disability, citizenship status, or veteran status.

SEXUAL HARRASMENT AND ASSAULT POLICY

Pursuant to Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, "no person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any education program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance." Using the guideline of Title IX in all NAASR events (regardless of country), NAASR is committed to providing its members and all others who attend or participate in NAASR events with an environment free from sexual harassment, assault, or gender discriminatory behavior.

It shall be a violation of this Code for any member of NAASR or one of their guests to harass, assault, or discriminate against another individual, regardless of their affiliation with NAASR, while at a NAASR sponsored event or while at an event at which NAASR members are present and representing the Association. Acts of sexual harassment, assault, or inappropriate relations are prohibited at all times while at a NAASR sponsored event or while at an event at which NAASR members are present and representing the Association.

If you believe that you have been subject to sexual harassment, assault, or gender discriminatory behavior by a fellow member, guest of a member, or by anyone else while at a NAASR sponsored event or while at an event at which NAASR members are present and representing the Association, please report your concerns immediately to any member of the NAASR Executive Council.

In conjunction with implementation of these policies and procedures, NAASR will establish an ad hoc Investigative Committee. The Investigative Committee will be responsible for fully investigating any complaint or report of harassment, assault, gender discrimination, or retaliation. The Investigative Committee will further be responsible for making and issuing any determination they deem appropriate as a result of their investigation, and also for effectuating any disciplinary action or sanctions deemed appropriate as a result of their findings. The Investigative Committee will consist of five (5) members: the President, Vice President, Executive Secretary, and two senior voting members of the Executive Council (as determined by length of time in the Council). In the event that any of those five (5) members are the subject of the complaint in question or have any other conflict of interest, those members will be removed from the Committee and replaced by any other Executive Council member so chosen by the majority of the remaining Committee members.

Once a complaint of sexual harassment, assault, gender discrimination, or retaliation has been filed, the Investigative Committee will conduct an investigation. The nature and extent of the investigation will depend upon the complaint. The intent is to obtain further information about the events/conduct complained of, to enable the person(s) named in the complaint to tell their side of the story, to determine whether discriminatory harassment has in fact occurred, and to develop an appropriate resolution. The complainant may be asked to put the complaint in writing, or the person to whom the complaint is made might take notes and ask them to be reviewed and signed by the complaining individual. All members are expected to cooperate with any NAASR investigation of a complaint of sexual harassment, assault, or gender discrimination. Any member who is determined to have committed sexual harassment, assault, gender discrimination, or retaliation, or who fails to cooperate with an Investigative Committee investigation will be subject to disciplinary action or sanctions, up to and including expulsion from the Association.

Retaliation against any individual who brings forth a complaint of sexual harassment, assault, or gender discriminatory behavior, who opposes such harassment, assault, or behavior, or who provides information in good faith regarding another individual's complaint, will not be tolerated. Any such retaliatory action will subject the member in question to disciplinary action or sanctions, up to and including expulsion from the Association.

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS AND ETHICAL CONDITIONS OF MEMBERSHIP

All members are expected to meet following professional and ethical standards and rules:

- 1) Members will conduct themselves in a professional, ethical, and moral manner.
- 2) NAASR members will at all times operate themselves in a fair and honest manner. They will not exploit or mislead, and will be faithful to their word and their obligations to both NAASR (as described by NAASR bylaws and the NAASR Code of Conduct) and in representation of their respective educational institution. To the extent a member is disciplined, sanctioned, or terminated by his or her respective institution, NAASR reserves the right to take disciplinary action against the member.
- 3) Beyond acting ethically themselves, NAASR members are expected to take proactive steps where possible and appropriate toward preventing the unethical conduct of others, by means that might include but are not limited to consulting with, referring to, and cooperating with other professionals and professional organizations. NAASR members will clarify their professional roles and obligations and be accountable for upholding professional standards of practice.
- 4) Members may not accept gifts of value from individuals outside the Association that may reasonably be construed as influencing their conduct regarding NAASR related activities and initiatives.
- 5) Members may not take, borrow, or remove Association property or personal property not belonging to them from the Association without permission of the President.
- 6) If any member becomes aware of a conflict of interest between the member and the Association, or between the member and another member, the member must immediately bring the conflict of interest to the attention of the Executive Council and should recuse themself from any additional business or communications that give rise to, or relate to, the conflict of interest.
- 7) Members may not in any way plagiarize any documentation or oral presentations obtained or produced as part of Association business, and may in no way put forth scholarly work as part of Association business that has been plagiarized in any form or fashion.
- 8) Members must respect the privacy of all other members and the guests of any members.
- 9) Members must protect personal and confidential information concerning the Association's business, relationships, members, and guests of members.
- 10) Members shall not disclose confidential information unless at the Association's request and/or when authorized by law. Appropriate use of member information for research purposes must be obtained with the full informed consent of members prior to publication.
- 11) Members are obligated to comply with any other ethical or professional standards, obligations, and mandates that arise in their particular field of study or research.